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An Archaeological Assessment of the area of Water Supply Upgrading and AC Mains Replacement at Rogart, Sutherland

Introduction

The author was asked by Allen, Gordon, Consulting Engineers, to carry out a desk-based assessment and walk over survey of the areas affected by the proposed upgrading prior to work commencing. The aim of the assessment was to locate known archaeological features and identify unrecorded features, to assess the potential impact of the project on the archaeological record and to make recommendations to mitigate this impact. This would involve forming a judgement on the relative local or national importance or interest of each individual feature, particularly those which lie within the wayleave of the pipeline. Recommendations will be made as to whether it is acceptable to damage or destroy an archaeological feature, whether further archaeological recording should be undertaken on these features, or whether steps should be taken to avoid causing damage. This last option might involve minor alterations to the pipeline route being recommended. All decisions on the implementation of such mitigating measures will be made by the Senior Archaeologist in charge of the project within the Department of Planning at Highland Council.

Method

An initial desk-based assessment was carried out to establish the historical background of the area and the likelihood of archaeological features being present. The following resources were consulted:

Highland Council's Sites and Monuments Register, held by the Archaeology Unit within the Planning Department of Highland Council

The National Library of Scotland's Map Library in Edinburgh.

Royal Commission on Ancient and Historic Monuments of Scotland: Air photographs and other archive material.

Highland Archive in Inverness Library: Valuation Rolls and Census returns,

The following books provided important background material:

Firthlands of Ross and Sutherland. Ed. John R Baldwin 1986

History of the Highlands and of the Highland Clans: James Brown  1837

This was followed by a walk-over survey of all the areas to be affected. This was carried out on July 18th and 19th in good weather conditions. It is to be stressed that this was not a general archaeological survey of the whole area. Due to the constraints of time, effort was concentrated along the approximate 20m. width of the wayleave. However, all archaeological features recorded on the Highland Council's Sites and Monuments Register  as being within a few hundred metres of the proposed work were visited to check that their recorded locations were correct and that they did not have associated features which would be affected.

Archaeological Background

Archaeological evidence has been found for settlement in the Rogart area for almost every period since Neolithic times. The Neolithic and Bronze Ages are represented by ritual and funerary monuments: the Neolithic by the chambered cairn at Pittentrail (now destroyed) and the stone circle further north at Cnoc an Liath Bhaid in Strath Brora. There are standing stones at Achnagarron which may represent the remains of a larger Neolithic or Bronze Age structure. Along the strath of the Fleet, several finds were made in the 19th century of 'graves', 'stone coffins' , cists and cairns containing human remains and objects such as a bronze spearhead. Although these were inadequately recorded, it is likely that most of these were short-cist burials, which had a long period of use through the Bronze and Early Iron ages. The hills around Rogart are dotted with fields of small stone cairns, marked as 'tumuli' on the old Ordnance Survey maps. Most of these are associated with Bronze Age-Iron Age hut circle settlements and represent field-clearance cairns, but some were investigated in the last century and proved to contain burials, so a funerary function for others cannot be ruled out. The 'stone circle' known as the Druid's Temple at West Pittentrail, marked on a map of 1788 was more likely to have been a broch. Another broch is visible on the hillside south of the railway at A' Mheirle, between Rogart and Lairg, another is above Kinnauld downstream.

The evidence for settlement in the first millenium comes mostly from place names. The area was presumably dominated by the Picts until the 9th century AD, and the coastal strip between Golspie and Helmsdale has revealed 18 carved Pictish stones. A hoard of 11 Pictish silver brooches was found at Pitfure in 1869, and the name Pitfure, together with Pittentrail, contains the Pictish element 'pit' meaning 'share' or 'portion'. From the 9th to the 13th century the whole area north of the Dornoch Firth was effectively under Norse control, but the only evidence in the Rogart area is again in the place names: Langwell, 'long field' and Rossal, "horse field". This suggests that Norse settlement was not confined to the coastal strip. Almost all the other place names are Gaelic eg. Achnagarron which also translates as 'horse field' (This possibly indicates the importance of the breeding of hardy native garrons, which were then sold on to the coastal settlements and Orkney as pack animals up until the end of the 18th century.)

Historical background

Mention of the settlement of Rogart goes back to 1230 (Rothegorth, from the Norse 'reddish enclosure') The Blaeu map of 1654, based on the survey of Timothy Pont in 1583-96, shows the strath of the river Fleet to be well populated at this time, marking, on the SW of the river, Kintraid, Rovie, Reyn, Rossal and Achevelie. NE of the river are Moy and, in its present location, Rogart Kirk. Reyn is presumably incorrectly located, as Rhaoine is much further west and north of the river.

Roy's military survey of the 1750s portrays all the meanderings of the Fleet before it was straightened in the 19th century, but names few of the settlements. Those named include Rossal, with its mill on the south bank of the river and Pitfure to the north. Above the kirk at Rogart he notes Muckle Rogart and East Rogart, all intensively cultivated. The road at this time runs south of the Fleet. This is the last map of the settlements as they were before the Clearances.

The first Clearances in the parish of Rogart took place in 1809, and continued for the next few years, leaving the upland areas and the upper reaches of Strath Brora empty of habitation except for isolated shepherds' bothies. Giving evidence to the Royal Commission in 1892, Alexander Bannerman of Langwell could still list the old townships and numbers of families evicted from each. Along the Abhain Leataidh, for example, were the old townships and farmsteads of Tigh Creag, Achatomlenie, Leathad an Raidrich, Tosc-airidh, Caolas, Achadh a' Choirce and Leataidh, still visible and representing the homes of some of the 42 families removed to make way for the sheep walks of Blarich. This one farm had, in 1892, 13,300 acres of which 300 acres, according to Bannerman, were old arable land. At the same time as Blarich, sheep farms were established at Blarich, while the flat lands of the strath downstream of Dalmore Rock were converted from townships into arable farms at Rovie, Davochbeg, Eiden and Pitfure.

Of the evicted families, some no doubt were forced to leave the parish. Others were given small lots of land in the townships from Acheilidh to Inchcape, and at Muie, where the steepness of the land made commercial farming impractical. An estate map of 1815 shows these lands as being allocated to 'sundry small tenants' The Forbes map of 1820 lists the townships pretty much as they are today: Achulie, Ardichu, Achabrail, Rosal, Escheap and Dalmore. Going north from Pittentrail he lists Rinauld, Rhinusaig, Badachrasgaidh, Kirk, Blaremore, Achork, Knockcastle. This forms a line of settlement further east than the present Pittentrail-Knockarthur road. The settlements around Rogart Park, west of the Kirk, must have gone under the general name of Muckle Rogart and Little Rogart. The old clachans were laid out in crofting strips. The investigation into the state of crofting in the 1880s found the Rogart crofting lands to be congested, although far less than the other parishes of Sutherland, and some land had already been given back to the crofters by the then Duke of Sutherland. This included up to 1900 acres around Inchcape. But the number of abandoned and ruinous farmsteads there today give evidence for the difficulty of earning a living on this land.

Down on the fertile strath, meanwhile, great improvements were carried out in the 19th century. The Fleet had formerly been tidal as high up as Pittentrail, but the construction of the Mound in 1818 prevented the tide from passing up the river. The Fleet was straightened along some sections as early as 1813, the old meanders can still be traced on aerial photographs, and great trenching and draining works were carried out, during which many antiquities were unearthed. A new road was built in 1849, although it had been running along the north side of the river since before 1823, and the section of the railway between Ardgay and Golspie was opened in 1868. It was hoped that the routing of the railway along the Fleet would benefit the local woollen industry. A tweed mill was opened beside the railway station in 1870, beside it is a meal mill of the same date. Both of these mills ran until the 1950s. Granite quarries were opened in 1885 9presumably the disused quarry to the SW of Dalmore Rock) but the granite proved to be unsuitable for polishing.

Before the bridging of the Fleet by the Mound, much N-S traffic must have passed through Rogart. The 1823 map shows Pittentrail as a crossroads, with a road leading south through the hills to Bonar Bridge, the then lowest crossable point of the River Shin. The drove route for black cattle heading from Sutherland and Caithness to the southern markets passed through Pittentrail, and a new cattle fair was established there in 1811. The coming of the railway revolutionised the transportation of livestock, and Rogart continued to play an important role. The cattle pens, still in use, can be seen to the east of the railway station.

The Archaeological Survey

The area was surveyed roughly from South West to North East. There are eleven different survey areas. These are given separate pages to allow for easy reference. Only where recommendations are given (in italics) need it be assumed that any action need be taken.

Stone Dykes

The stone dykes which will be crossed by the route of the pipelines have not been individually recorded unless of particular archaeological interest. Most of the dykes of the crofting areas are of very rough construction,  basically consumption dykes for field clearance. Due to their very tumbled nature, it was not felt that any particular action should be taken to avoid damage, although there will no doubt be cases where the crofter will request reinstatement.

Acheilidh - Achvrail - Dal nan Breac

AD 1.  NC 6640 0380  Achulea Township SMR no. NC60SE0025  Ten roofed and two unroofed buildings re recorded on the 1st edition Ordnance survey map. The remaining ruinous buildings of this township are south of the proposed work and should not be affected.

AD 2.  NC 6644 0389  Ardochu: building  The footings of a small rectangular building attached to the dyke running NE-SW, just north of the farm access track. The building measures roughly 2m. by 3m.

Recommendations: It should be possible to avoid damage to this structure despite its proximity to the wayleave. It is recommended that it be flagged to avoid accidental damage.

AD 3.  NC 6737 0355  Ardochu:  Buildings  The substantial ruins of two buildings, one aligned E-W and the other, set back from the first, N-S. This second has noticeably superior quality stonework, suggesting a house and barn. Both are marked as roofed on the 2nd edition ordnance Survey map. They are set far enough back from the wayleave to be unaffected.

AD 4.  NC 6788 0366  Achvrail: two Hut Circles  These grass-covered circles are 10m apart on a level area of an otherwise steep sloping field. The western circle is partly dug into the bank at the back, and measures 13.2m. externally. The eastern circle is on a flat platform and measures 13m. , with a possible entrance to the east. One possible associated clearance cairn lies downhill to the north.

Recommendations;  The route of the pipeline is very close to these features, and it is recommended that it be kept as far south as possible as it crosses this field, without interfering with the old main. If the wayleave comes within 10m. of these structures it may be considered necessary for an archaeologist to be on site to monitor the excavation work. At the very least the features should be flagged to prevent accidental damage, and an exclusion zone be marked out.

AD 5.  NC 6796 0363  Achvrail: turf dyke  This dyke is marked on the map and appears to be a turf-stone dyke of the type generally used as a land boundary prior to the establishment of crofts. It may have some significance as a township boundary.

Recommendations:  this is a linear feature and only a section of it will be damaged when the pipeline trench cuts through it. It is recommended that damage be kept to a minimum by avoiding the dumping of excavated material on the feature.

AD 6.  NC 6800 0360  Achvrail:  steading and water wheel  This feature is note because of the well-preserved state of the water wheel. The lade can be traced coming down the hill from the SW but the tailrace is no longer visible. Both the steading and the 19th century croft house to its east are marked as roofed on the 2nd edition Ordnance Survey map. These will not be affected by the present project.

AD 7.  NC 680 036  Bronze Armlet  SMR no. NC60SE0011  The location of this discovery is vague. It is possible that it was found in or associated with a cist burial, but there is no trace of one. It may well have been a chance find. No action is considered necessary.

AD 8.  NC 6824 0316  Achvrail: unroofed house  A ruined 19th century croft huse. Marked as roofed on the 2nd edition OS map, and seemingly only abandoned in the past few decades. It has an attached byre and stackyard. It should not be affected by the present project.

AD 9.  NC 6852 0353  Oval Enclosure SMR no. NC60SE0003  This is marked on some maps as a hut circle, but is decidedly oval and is therefore probably a stell. The hut circle marked on the map on the south side of the road is in fact one, now very close to the edge of a small quarry/dump. These features were visited to ascertain if associated features might be found downstream but this is thought unlikely.

Dal nan Breac - Inchcape

DI 1.  NC 6857 0395  Dal nan Breac Hut Circle  SMR no. NC60SE0014  This large hut circle is clearly visible on the hill side to the north of the road and is far enough away from the proposed work to be unaffected.

DI 2.  NC 6856 0380  Area of old dykes and enclosures  The meandering nature of these dykes and the fact that they are of turf and stone construction rather than drystone suggests that they belong to a pre-crofting period of land use. One dyke runs up to join the track but does not seem to continue beyond it. Only the end of this is likely to be damaged.

Recommendations: it is recommended that this turf dyke be identified and damage be kept to a minimum by avoiding the dumping of excavated material on it.

DI 3.  NC 6854 0376  Well  marked as a spring rather than a well on the 2nd edition OS map. It is unclear from its present state whether it was utilised as a well, but its location under the track suggests it might have formed the original water supply for the house below. All that is visible are a few stones and a damp patch. No action is considered necessary.

DI 4.  NC 6858 0370  Culvert  Although the track running SE from this point is not marked on  the 2nd edition OS map, it is obviously of some age, and the bridge, or culvert over the small stream is in good condition

Recommendations: it is hoped that it will be possible to avoid damage to this feature. It should be identified and flagged to avoid accidental damage.

DI 5.  NC 6862 0362  Area of piled rubble  This area was note as the volume of stones was unusual, but no footings of buildings could be discerned, and no buildings are marked at this location on any maps. It is concluded that this is rubble cleared from the cultivated fields around. It is not on the line of the wayleave and whatever its nature should not be affected.

DI 6.  NC  688 036  Rosal Township  SMR no. NC60SE0029  a number of abandoned and ruinous buildings are noted at a distance below the road, the most identifiable of which are 19th century crofting buildings. They were not investigated in detail as they are far enough below the road to be unaffected.

DI 7.  NC  690 0346  Area of dykes, enclosures, possible buildings  SMR no. NC60SE0039  This area of rough and rocky ground contains several features which appear to date to the pre-crofting period and may represent a remaining piece of pre-crofting landscape. Firstly, the enclosure to the west of the dyke originally extended an equal distance to the east, but was truncated by the construction of the dyke and the eastern half abandoned. The low grassy footings of a probable turf and stone dyke lie approximately 12m. north of the present fence, to the east it curves south to join the fence. Finally, on the rocky ridge are the possible footings of buildings or small enclosures. The western of these is aligned N-S and measures 3m. by 5m. The eastern is aligned E-W and measures 7.5m by 3m. A further low grassy dyke heads ENE from these.

Recommendations. The pipeline and the E-W turf dyke appear to share the same route, while the footings of the buildings will be unaffected as they lie on the rocky outcrop which will be avoided by excavation work. It is recommended that the pipeline pass between the dyke and the fence, leaving the dyke unaffected. This allows a wayleave of 12m. which should be adequate.

DI 8. NC 6911 0343  Buildings and enclosure  two unroofed buildings of good stonework with an enclosed area to the north and west. These are marked as unroofed on the 2nd edition OS map

Recommendations. The wayleave will pass north of these buildings and damage will be done to the dykes of the enclosures. It is recommended that damage be kept to a minimum by avoiding the dumping of excavated material on the dykes.

DI 9.  NC 699 030 Inchcape Township  SMR no. NC60SE0044 Thirteen roofed and three unroofed buildings are marked on the 1st edition OS map. Ruinous buildings and irregularly laid out fields and enclosures are visible on the hillside to the SE and are well beyond the furthest point of the present project.

Muie - Dal nan Breac

MD 1.  NC 6710 0415  'Graves'  SMR no. NC60SE0034  These are most likely to have ben cist burials. The location given for their discovery is far enough from the present work for any remains to be unaffected.

MD 2.  NC 6724 0423  Farmstead  Two buildings, the higher prominent on a rocky outcrop, the lower more ruinous, originally with an attached enclosure to its south. These buildings are marked as unroofed on the 2nd edition OS map. Excavations for the existing water supply have clipped the corner off the lower enclosure, but no damage was done to the buildings themselves. It should be possible to prevent damage by the present project, which lies to the east of the existing main.

Recommendations: it is recommended that these features be flagged to prevent accidental damage.

MD 3.  NC 6751 0413  'Stone cup" from a Cairn  Probably a cist burial. A natural mound is visible below the road, partly destroyed by the digging of a drainage ditch. There are no signs of a cist. It is far enough below he road tobe unaffected by the present project.

MD 4.  NC 677 042  Badbonlramony farmstead  SMR no. NC60SE0028 The farm buildings at this location all appear o be still in use, and it is unclear which farmstead is referred to. No reference could be found to this placename on maps. However it does not appear that the archaeological record will be affected by work at this location.

Rossal House - Old School House

R 1. NC 689 039  Old Mill  SMR no. BC60SE0032  despite the given grid reference, all old maps mark this mill as south of the river. There is no trace of this structure or a mill lade, and there is no reason to suppose that it was at this particular location.

R 2.  NC 6905 0348  Steading and enclosure  A 19th century steading with an enclosure to its west. This building will not be affected by the present project.

Blarich

B 1.  NC 692 040 Hut Circles  SMR no. NC60SE0001  Three large grass covered hut circles are located to the west of the field below Blarich House. There are no field systems associated with this settlement and the circles are of sufficient distance from the present project to be unaffected.

B 2.  NC 6931 0402  Stone Spade- like Implement  SMR no. NC60SE0005 Discovered by workmen during road building operations. The exact location of this find is unclear, and it does not appear to have been associated with any archaeological feature. It is therefore assumed to have been a chance find and requires no action.

B 3.  NC 6951 0399  "Cruinn nan Marbh"  Old Burial Ground  SMR no. NC60SE0023   "A curious ring-like elevation in the middle of the Strath where several cists have been opened in the formation of drains, and which is known as the 'Rha Marow' or 'Circle of the Dead'". Marked on the 2nd edition OSD map as 'Cruinn nan Marbh', graveyard (disused). No features are visible on this concave but not particularly circular mound. It is of sufficient distance from the present project to be unaffected.

B 4.  NC 6929 0419  Blarich House  SMR no. NC60SE0047  House and farm buildings presumably built when the large sheep farm of Blarich was established around 1819. These buildings will not be affected by the present project.

B 5.  NC 6942 0408  Drystone Dyke  A fine 19th century dyke presumably contemporary with the establishment of the farm.

Recommendations. This dyke should be unaffected if the pipeline runs up the field to its east, but care should be taken to prevent accidental damage, or to reinstate the dyke in the same style if it does get damaged.

Tressady

T 1.  NC 7017 0383  Well and cisterns  The cisterns are marked on the 2nd edition OS map as two circles to the SW of the well. Visible on the ground however, WSW of the well are two adjacent rectangles delineated by rough stone slabs set on edge and extending a few centimetres above ground level. These rectangles measure 1.2m by 0.85m and 1.3m and 0.75m. To the north of Tressady Lodge another cistern is marked as a large rectangle containing two small adjacent rectangles presumably indicating an underground tank with two openings. It seems likely that this first cistern is of similar construction. Therefore one would expect to find a large, possibly earth-filled subterranean structure beneath these two rectangles. This is just above the kennels connected with the Lodge, and the cisterns are therefore presumably associated with the water supply for these. The Lodge was built in the last century to cater for the shooting tenants on the estate.

Recommendations: it is hoped that the wayleave will pass below this feature. As much of the cistern is underground it is impossible without further investigation to determine its exact extent but it can be presumed to be not beneath the track It is suggested that the pipeline follow this track having crossed the dyke to the east at a lower level than at present proposed.

T 2.  NC 7019 0382  Building and Enclosure One ruinous rectangular  building attached to a small square enclosure. This building is marked as unroofed on the 2nd edition OS map, and appears to pre-date the stone dyke running NNE-SSW which cuts off a corner of the building.

Recommendations: it is recommended that the route of the pipeline pass below this feature. This lower route will avoid damage both to this building and to the above well and cistern.

T 3.  NC 7018 0366  Cist with Human Remains  SMR no. NC70SW0047 This was not investigated closely, but there is no immediately obvious trace. It is far enough from the present project to be unaffected

T 4.  NC 7026 0366  Free Church School / Reading Room Now a private residence. This building is marked on the 1st edition OS map as a Free Church School and on the 2nd edition as a reading room. It is noted here out of interest but should not be affected by the present project.

Pitfure - Kinnauld

PK 1.  NC 709 036  Torran Dubhach  Battlefield Site  SMR no. NC70SW0008  Three natural knolls where the battle reportedly took place in 1517 between the Mackays of Strathnaver and the inhabitants of SE Sutherland.  Described by Sir Robert Gordon as 'The greatest conflict that has hitherto been fought between the inhabitants of these countries, or within the diocese of Caithness to our knowledge'. Descriptions of the battle suggest not only a large number of fighting men on both sides but also the fighting covering a far larger area than just the knolls, ending with a rout of the Strathnaver force. The dead are reported to have been around 250 of Mackay's men, and 38 Sutherlanders.

Recommendations: the route of the pipeline passes within 100m. of the three knolls which were presumably the centre of the battle. But as the battle covered a wider area, it can be presumed that debris and burials of the Strathnaver dead could be anywhere in the vicinity. However, apart from the mounds themselves, this ground has been drained and ploughed over the centuries without producing and recorded remains, so it can be assumed that the excavation work of this present project is unlikely to reveal any major finds. It may still be considered useful to carry out some form of geophysical survey prior to work commencing.

PK 2.  NC 711 0335  Township SMR no. NC70SW0065  All the buildings marked on the 2nd edition OS map are still in use, and there are no buildings north of the road where the route of the pipeline passes.

PK 3.  NC 7127 0314  Memorial to the memory of Sir John Alexander MacDonald former prime minister of Canada. The stones used to build this memorial cairn are claimed to be from the family home which stood on this exact spot, but if that is the case it must have been demolished at least at the time of the construction of the railway in the 1860s. An 1853 map does show houses all around the base of the Dalmore Rock. It is highly that any trace of these houses would survive the construction of the railway embankment.

PK 4.  NC 7126 0309  Bronze Axe  SMR no. NC70SW0011  This was found during the construction of the railway in 1869. It is a Middle Bronze Age palstave, and is assumed to be a chance find.

PK 5.  NC 7136 0306  Cist  SMR no. NC70SW0012 There is a natural mound at this location, much of it has been removed by quarrying. There is no sign of a cist, although the thick gorse cover made investigation difficult. There are some large stones visible on the surface on the east of the mound. The pipeline here passes between the mound and the road and is unlikely to affect any archaeological feature.

PK 6.  NC 7168 0218  Tordarroch Cairn - Cist  SMR no. NC70SW0024 This cairn cist was opened in 1867. There is now no trace. Its given location is in the cultivated field on the west side of the road opposite Norgate house.

PK 7.  NC 716 027  Druid Temple: Stone circle or Broch  SMR no. NC70SW0046 This was not investigated but its location is presumed to be, as marked on old maps, to the SW of the farm below Norgate House, and therefore far enough from the present projectfor any remains to be unaffected.

PK 8.  NC 7269 0209  Chambered Cairn  SMR no. NC70SW0002  This is shown as a cairn on a map of 1788 and described by Tait in 1870 as a large chambered cairn, but now trace now remains. It is presumed to have been at the high point of the rise in the southern part of the field. The pipeline here passes close enough to the road to not intrude on any possible remains of this feature.

PK 9.  NC 7283 0220  Corry farmstead  SMR no. NC70SW0081  This farmstead is set back from the road with its own semicircular access track. No features are close enough to the pipeline to be affected.

Reidlin - Remusaig

RR 1.  NC 7332 0220  Buildings Two roofed buildings, one with an attached byre, are marked on the 2nd edition OS map. One building has disappeared entirely, the other, very ruinous, is being used as a tractor park. These remains are on the other side of the road from the proposed work and should be unaffected.

RR 2.  NC 7336 0221  Steading and enclosures This partly ruinous L-shaped steading is still in use. There are ruinous enclosure walls to the south and east. It is presumed that the route of the wayleave passes to the south of these enclosures and will not affect them.

Rogart - Balclaggan

RB 1.  NC 7388 0331  Manse and Glebelands  SMR no. NC70SW0192  See attached plan There has been a church on this site since at least 1556. The old manse, built in 1776, lies to the east of the walled garden  which is still in use. Its walls are probably contemporary with the new manse to the west. In this area, three other buildings, a possible kiln and an area of small cairns were identified on a RCAHMS visit in 1995. The manse, four buildings and an enclosure are marked on an estate map of 1811, while a more rectangular enclosure lay under the present walled garden. This present visit also located two small grass-covered circular features, the more easterly with a diameter of 4.5m. and walls 1m. thick, the more westerly with a diameter of 5.1m. These lie just west of the track between the enclosure and the corn kiln. Other grass-covered mounds by the enclosure may represent the footings of other structures.

Prior to 1776 it is unlikely that a minister would have been awarded a manse and glebe, so it is likely that all these buildings and features date to 1776 and later. The complex is of interest as it represents a continuity of land use uninterrupted by the clearances and improvements , and also as the material evidence for an aspect of the ecclesiastical history of Rogart Parish and the history of the Church in the Highlands in  general.

Recommendations. It is recommended hat the whole complex of buildings and structures be treated as one unit and that it be preserved in its entirety. The present wayleave appears to take a route directly through the complex. It is recommended that the route be altered, preferably to take a line much further west and only turning east south of the field boundary running down to the road from the enclosure. An acceptable alternative route would be to follow exactly the present access track from south of the walled garden, or to run very closely along its eastern edge. If either of these suggestions prove impossible for practical reasons, it is recommended that more detailed archaeological recording, including possibly the excavation of certain of the features, be carried out  prior to any disturbance of this area.

RB 2.  NC 7382 0371  Buildings  One roofed and one unroofed building are depicted on the 2nd edition OS map, west of the road at this point. This is now the location of the modern cemetery and no trace of these buildings is visible. The pipeline passes to the east of the road here, so any remains are not likely to be affected.

Blairmore - Achnagarron

BA 1.  NC 7419 0406  Farmstead and building SMR nos. NC70SW0086 and NC70SW0173  Two small farmsteads, the northerly consisting of two roofed structures and an enclosure on the 2nd edition OS map, and the southerly, Cnoc an t Sithein, three roofed structures. These buildings appear to be in use, and are far enough away from the present project to be unaffected.

BA 2.  NC 7374 0458  Buildings and Kiln  SMR no. NC70SW0088  These buildings, marked as roofed on the 2nd edition OS map, are on the other side of the burn from the route of the pipeline and will not be affected.

BA 3.  NC 7384 0468  Free Church School / Reading Room  This is now a private residence, but is marked as the Free Church School on the 1st edition OS map and as a reading room on the 2nd edition. It is recorded here out of interest but will not be affected by the present project.

BA 4.  NC 7362 0482  Cnoc Meadhonach  Hut Circle and field System  SMR no. NC70NW0201  One heather-covered hut circle and associated clearance cairns are located some 60m. north of the pipeline route. No clearance cairns were located in the area of the wayleave, although thick vegetation did make investigation difficult. A much larger hut circle settlement is some 500m. to the NW. These features are all far enough from the route of the pipeline to be unaffected.

BA 5.  NC 7350 0497  Stone piles  Two roughly circular shadows were noted on the aerial photograph of this field. On investigation, the only visible features proved to be two piles of stones, probably field clearance piles. It is not felt that any action need be taken to protect these features.

Garvoult

G 1.  NC 7385 0584  Building  The footings of a small building, measuring 3m. by 1.6m and aligned N-S, lie beside the burn north of the road junction. It is considered to be far enough from the wayleave to be unaffected.

G 2.  NC 7386 0584  Hollows  One large irregular hollow lies just north of the road junction and three more lie along the roadside to the north. These have been interpreted as borrow pits for material to construct the road's 'causeway' over the wet ground between the road junction and the bridge. No action need be taken to protect these features.

G 3.  NC 7396 0598  Well  A well is marked on the 2nd edition OS map and some stones just west of the present fence probably represent this. It will probably be unaffected by the present project, but it is not considered necessary for any action to be taken to preserve this feature

G 4.  NC 7382 0600 Burned Mound  SMR no. NC70NW0201  A quick search did not locate this feature, but if its given grid reference is correct, it is far enough from the present project to be unaffected.

Catherine Dagg
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